

School of Economics and Management

Department of Business Administration BUSN69, Accounting and Auditing Degree Project, Master of Science in Business and Economics Spring 2016

The Role of Financing Systems in Causal Reasoning

A content analysis of companies from Germany and the United Kingdom

Authors

Myrto Caratzas Mergime Preteni

Supervisor

Kristina Artsberg

Summary

Title The Role of Financing Systems in Causal Reasoning - A content analysis

of companies from Germany and the United Kingdom

Seminar date 2016-06-01

Course BUSN69 Degree Project Graduate Level, Accounting and Auditing, 15

University Credits Points (ECTS)

Authors Myrto Caratzas and Mergime Preteni

Advisor Kristina Artsberg

Keywords Financing systems; Causal reasoning; Self-serving attributions;

Attribution theory; Impression management

Purpose The purpose is to highlight the importance of the split, equity/outsider and

credit/insider, in financing systems. More specifically, it seeks to address whether the split will have an effect on the self-serving attributions made

by companies in Germany and the UK.

Methodology The paper uses a quantitative research design with a deductive approach.

A content analysis is conducted. A coding scheme, based on Bettman and Weitz' (1983) guidelines is used to detect self-serving attributions in the letters to the shareholders from Germany and the UK in one year, 2014 or 2015. Six null hypotheses are stated, which are later on tested using

statistical tests.

Theoretical perspectives

The theoretical framework of this study is based on financing systems and

attribution theory.

Empirical foundation

Letters to the shareholders from a total of 66 companies from Germany and the UK are used as primary data for the empirical results. The formats of the annual report tend to vary. Therefore, the most standardised component of the report discussing performance is analysed, which is

claimed to be the letter to the shareholders (Bettman & Weitz, 1983).

Conclusions

The results show that for the profitable companies, the mean differences of Germany and the UK in regards to self-serving and self-enhancing attributions are statistically significant at the 0,05 level using one-tailed t tests. However, the mean difference of self-protective attributions of the two countries is not statistically significant using one-tailed t tests. For the unprofitable companies, no mean rank difference is statistically significant at the 0,05 level in Mann-Whitney U tests. The implication of the results is that financing systems can be used to explain the statistical significant differences are found. However, we also find that sometimes a credit/insider can reveal characteristics that equity/outsider systems tend to exhibit. This can explain why some results are not statistically significant.

1

Contents

Wordlist	4
Abbreviations	4
1. Introduction	5
1.1 Background	5
1.2 Problematization	5
1.3 Aim	7
1.4 Research question	7
1.5 Outline	7
2. Theory	8
2.1 Appearance of impression management in reports	8
2.1.1 Graphs	8
2.1.2 Accounting narratives as a method of impression management	9
2.2 Attribution theory	10
2.2.1 Prior research on self-serving attributions	11
2.3 Financing systems	12
2.4 Hypotheses developed based on prior research and the financing systems	14
3. Method	16
3.1 Process of literature search	16
3.2 Research design	16
3.2.1 Content analysis	16
3.2.2 Framework for content analysis	17
3.2.3 Inter-coder reliability	20
3.2.4 Ethical considerations	21
3.3 Statistical analysis of content analysis	21
3.4 Data collection method	23
3.4.1 Sample selection	23
4. Results	25
4.1 Profitable companies	25
4.2 Unprofitable companies	27
5. Discussion	29
6. Conclusion	32
6.1 Limitations and Future Research	33

Reference List	35
Appendix 1	38
Appendix 2	40

Wordlist

Attribution an outcome linked to a cause

Causal reasoning to give attributions, that is give a cause to an outcome

Letter to the shareholders can be the equivalent to the CEO letter, the chief executive's

review, the president's letter, the CEO's message, and the

chairman's statement

Self-enhancing attribution favourable outcome, internal cause

Self-protective attribution unfavourable outcome, external cause

Self-serving attribution the use of self-enhancing and self-protective attributions

Self-serving bias the manager's verbal strategy to uphold a certain image

Abbreviations

D/E debt/equity

FE favourable outcome, external cause

FI favourable outcome, internal cause

UE unfavourable outcome, external cause

UI unfavourable outcome, internal cause

1. Introduction

1.1 Background

Crowther, Carter and Cooper (2006) describe financial reporting as operating through two different languages, called "linguistic registers". The first language is that of accounting, whereas the other is the natural language of the company. In the annual report the language of accounting is represented by the measures, statistics and numbers, while the natural language is represented by textualisations and contextualisations of these numbers in the form of descriptions, stories and explanations. The language of accounting and the natural language of the company complement each other, since the financial numbers of the annual report are better understood with the help of contextualization (Svensson & Sandell, 2016). In the same way the quantitative (financial portion) parts help strengthen the qualitative (narrative portion), which in turn communicate the company image (Jonäll & Rimmel, 2010).

One concern with the narrative, or rather qualitative section of the reports, is that it is not regulated and hence not audited (Schleicher & Walker, 2010; Geppert & Lawrence, 2008; Jonäll & Rimmel, 2010). This can therefore lead to the narrative being subject to impression management (Clatworthy & Jones, 2003; Merkl-Davies, Brennan, & McLeay, 2011). Impression management is defined as a company's use of annual reports to influence the perceptions stakeholders have about a company (Hooghiemstra, 2000). Reputations can be beneficial or harmful for a company; a good reputation offers a competitive advantage (Hooghiemstra, 2000). Therefore, there is a tendency for companies to attempt to present themselves in the most favourable light by reporting good news willingly and becoming reluctant to report bad news (Buttny, 1985; Hooghiemstra, 2000). This might cause "selective financial representation" (Revsine, 1991). In other words, companies may try to influence their reputation through corporate reporting with the use of impression management (Hooghiemstra, 2000). This risks conflicting with the purpose of annual reports; providing an accurate, transparent representation of a firm's financial position (Falschunger, Eisl, Losbichler & Greil, 2015). Accordingly, because it challenges the main purpose of annual reports, impression management has become a crucial topic of research.

1.2 Problematization

Studies have agreed that impression management is apparent in different ways and in different parts of the annual reports. Yekini, Wisniewski, & Millo (2015), for example, chose to study the positive tone revealed in the annual report as a whole. Other research (Clatworthy & Jones, 2003; Clatworthy & Jones, 2006; Cen & Cai, 2013; Cen & Cai, 2014; Cen & Cai, 2015) reviewed the chairman's statement as it has been proven to be the most read part of the annual report (Cen & Cai, 2015). These studies also focused on the comparison between least and most profitable companies. Finally, a portion of studies (Falschunger et al., 2015; Beattie & Jones, 2000; Beattie, Dhanani & Jones, 2008; Dilla & Janvrin, 2010) reviewed impression management appearance using graphs as a visual. The vast research regarding the different aspects of impression management illustrates how the subject is prevalent.

Research has discussed the use of impression management relating to attribution theory. Attribution theory looks at the justification that managers give for their actions, in other words their causal reasoning (Gollan & Witte, 2008). Attributions refer to any outcomes, favourable or unfavourable, that is linked to a cause, internal or external. Favourable or unfavourable outcomes could be related to, for example, increased or decreased performance, whereas internal or external causes could be related to, for example, company strategy (internal) or market prices (external). The research field on attributions is mainly concerned with self-serving attributions (Bettman & Weitz, 1983; Staw, McKechnie & Puffer, 1983; Salancik & Meindl, 1984; Aerts, 1992, 1994, 2001, 2005; Clatworthy & Jones, 2003; Merkl-Davies, Brennan & McLeay, 2011). Self-serving attributions refer to when a company management attributes favourable outcomes to internal causes and attributes unfavourable outcomes to external causes, hence, presenting themselves in the best possible light (Bettman & Weitz, 1983; Clatworthy & Jones, 2003).

In a United States (US) context, Bettman & Weitz (1983) wanted to see if there is a difference in the use of self-serving attributions between companies operating in a "good" or "bad" year according to external factors, not company performance. Company performance was reviewed by Staw, McKechnie and Puffer (1983) and Salancik and Meindl (1984), who were interested in whether company performance and financial health determined the amount of self-serving attributions used. In an European context, Aerts (1992, 1994, 2001 & 2005) conducted several studies of Belgian companies in the interest of understanding how self-serving attributions are used in these companies. Also in a European context, Clatworthy and Jones (2003) compared the most and least profitable companies in the United Kingdom (hereinafter referred to as UK) to see whether there is a significant difference in their reporting of self-serving attributions. Following in the footsteps of prior literature, we are also interested in comparing the use of self-serving attributions. However, to add to prior research we are interested in making a further distinction which, to the best of our knowledge, has not been done before, namely to compare the use of self-serving attributions between countries with different financing systems

The key cause of international differences in financial reporting lies in the differences in equity/outsider and credit/insider systems, which is the financing systems (Nobes, 1998; Nobes & Parker, 2012). The split between equity and credit and outsider and insider affect the two aspects of financial reporting, namely, measurement and disclosure. Measurement refers to information regarding financial reporting. Disclosure, on the other hand, refers to the amount of information (Nobes, 1998). By using the label for the countries as equity/outsider and credit/insider we are essentially looking at both measurement and disclosure. Our interest in this study, however, is solely to discuss disclosure and not measurement. Thereby, we will focus on the insider/outsider split. Although this is describing aspects of financial reporting, we have stated that the financial and narrative parts of an annual report complement each other (Svensson & Sandell, 2016). By basing our study on this notion, we are assuming that if a company discloses, for example. Less information in the financial parts, then the company will disclose less in the narrative parts.

Following the argument above, we feel as though an interesting comparison would be to look at the letter to the shareholders in the annual report of companies coming from one country with a credit/insider system and one country with an equity/outsider system. According to Nobes and Parker (2012) companies from the equity/outsider system are assumed to disclose more information. By looking at these particular companies' letters to the shareholders, we are, therefore, interested in whether companies coming from an equity/outsider country will make significantly more self-serving attributions than companies coming from a credit/insider country. Based on the assumptions made by Nobes and Parker (2012) we are expecting to see significantly more self-serving attributions made in companies coming from an equity/outsider country.

In order to address the gap defined above, we must choose two countries that differ in their financing system. This will help determine what attributions are made in the narrative parts of the annual report. According to this criterion we have chosen Germany and the UK. Franks and Mayer (2001) and Nobes and Parker (2012) both agree that Germany and the UK are token examples of credit/insider systems and equity/outsider systems, respectively.

1.3 Aim

Our aim is to study how the management of a company justifies certain actions or events by what factors they attribute to the results of the company's performance. We aim to highlight the importance of the two systems, equity/outsider and credit/insider, and whether they have an effect on the extent to which self-serving attributions are made. By doing so we would like this study to indicate the importance and impact of financing systems, as they are claimed to be the most important factor for international differences.

1.4 Research question

Based on the aim, we seek to answer the following question:

1. Do companies from an equity/outsider system make more self-serving attributions than companies from a credit/insider system in their letter to the shareholders of the annual report?

1.5 Outline

In order to answer our research question effectively, this paper is structured in the following manner. Following the introduction there will be a chapter regarding the theory. In which we talk about the appearance of impression management and introduce attribution theory as a self-presentational strategy within impression management. Furthermore, in the theory chapter we also present and describe the existence of a split in financing systems from which we derive the hypotheses. The next chapter will discuss the method. In the method chapter we will explain the research design and sample selection. Following that we will present our results, which will then be discussed. Through that we will establish a conclusion, which will include the limitations and future research suggestions of our study.

2. Theory

Impression management, or self-presentation, is defined as people needing to present themselves favourably or make a good impression on others (Sadler, Hunger & Miller, 2010). It was first introduced in psychology, of which Schlenker was among the first researchers in 1980. Schlenker viewed impression management as the core of interpersonal relations. He proposed that individuals tend to control perceptions (unconsciously or consciously) in interactions (real or imagined) (Cen & Cai, 2014). This can sometimes mean that a person organizes his or her behaviour to make an impression and affect the perceptions of surrounding people (Mažeikienė & Peleckis, 2009). This process is also referred to as self-presentation strategies. In other words, it will be an active nonverbal and/or verbal behaviour that strives to create an image for the surrounding people of the environment. This image is created to be favourable in order to strengthen and sustain a certain goal. This goal will depend on what skills or abilities the individual wants to present (Mažeikienė & Peleckis, 2009).

These aforementioned self-presentation strategies can be beneficial to managers as it can reinforce reputations as well as help managers address and effectively handle threats (Brennan, Guillamon-Saorin & Pierce, 2009). This can be achieved through the annual reports. Annual reports consist of financial and narrative reports. The narrative reports should focus on disclosing the reasons for the outcome of the financial reports (Crowther, Carter & Cooper, 2006). This can be done in different ways, as will be apparent in the upcoming section.

2.1 Appearance of impression management in reports

The perceptions of investors have become increasingly important for companies. Clarke and Murray (2000) explore the role that annual reports play in communicating with shareholders. It is crucial that the impressions that companies leave are positive and build confidence. There are a series of studies that are dedicated to analysing this tone. Yekini, Wisniewski & Millo (2015) for example, assessed the tone of annual reports, and whether narrative reports are used as an impression management tool or for disclosing essential information. Ultimately, they discovered that markets react positively to a positive tone in annual reports, and thus offer an indicative reasoning to certain market reactions. Schleicher and Walker (2010) created a similar study by focusing on the tone in reports, and specifically regarding reports that are forward looking. These studies both reveal that firms with imminent decreases tend to have a more positive tone. Narrative reports are vulnerable to impression management, which has raised the demand for regulation of narratives (Schleicher & Walker, 2010). Impression management can appear in various reports and in various forms. Below we will discuss studies regarding impression management in chairman's statements. Following that, different forms of impression management will be discussed, such as graphs and paratext.

2.1.1 Graphs

One way impression management is apparent is in graphs, as graphs are inclined to portraying a positive impression of the company's performance. Graphs are a convenient tool that influences the reader's impression and decisions (Falschlunger et al., 2015). Using graphs in annual reports

has become an universal phenomenon. Graphs have been portraying more operating issues rather than the traditional depiction of key financial figures (Beattie, Dhanani & Jones, 2008). The core advantage of using graphs is that readers can process information in graphs more easily than tables. Impression management is evident through the distortion of graphical measurement and selectivity (Dilla & Janvrin, 2010). Through Beattie, Dhanani and Jones' (2008) study they revealed that management has more incentive to manage impression than comply with the norms of reporting. Beattie and Jones (2000) find that companies use graphs to manage readers' impressions, and therefore call for reporting standards for graphical reporting.

2.1.2 Accounting narratives as a method of impression management

The chairman is legally responsible for the actions, or governance, of the company (Clarke & Murray, 2000). Thereby, there has been considerable focus on the chairman's statement when considering the financial health of a company. Clarke and Murray (2000) provide a research contributing to the view that the chairman's statement is crucial in the communication with investors. Clarke and Murray (2000) focus on the chairman's statement and the role it plays in communicating the actions of the company in this one sided exchange. Impression management has several aspects that need to be taken into considerations. This section divides these aspects into subsections. The trust in a chairman's statement depends on various determinants, such as the number of years that a chairman has been in office. Also, according to Cen and Cai (2015), the chairman's statements is the most read part of the annual report, hence, it is said to be more prone to impression management.

By studying the chairman's statement of the 50 most and least profitable listed companies in the UK, Clatworthy and Jones (2003; 2006), sought to understand whether the reporting style changes in accordance to the financial success of the company. These studies concluded that positive performance is emphasised, while negative performance is blamed on external causes, with both the most and least profitable companies. Clatworthy and Jones (2003) state that this contributes to the notion that impression management appears in accounting narratives. It reveals that the chairman's statement is prone to impression management. Clatworthy Jones (2006) found this to be evident as managers' tendency to relate their actions with the financial results was associated with whether the firm performed positively or negatively.

The focus of the tone of the chairman's statement changes in many ways, regarding the underlying performance of the firm (Schleicher & Walker, 2010). Clatworthy and Jones (2006) state how companies that are unprofitable tend to focus more on the future rather than the past. Additionally, there is reluctance in unprofitable companies to provide a lengthy chairman's statement. Moreover, chairmen are hesitant to use personal pronouns, or focus on key financial indicators (Clatworthy & Jones 2006). Cen and Cai (2014) and Schleicher and Walker (2010) concur that there are differences in the statements of negatively performing companies regarding textual differences. Moreover, firms that are considered 'riskier' will tend to take on a more positive tone.

In 2013, Cen and Cai looked into the study of impression management in Chinese companies' chairmen's statements, again looking at the 50 most and least profitable firms. The difference of

this study is that China is a developing country. This makes a difference as globalization is progressing and economic reform may demand managers to assume Western practices to attract shareholders. Overall, impression management is present in chairmen's statements. Cen and Cai (2015) held a similar study to Clatworthy and Jones (2003; 2006) and Cen and Cai (2013), but in the context of Australian companies. Similar to Clatworthy and Jones (2006), Cen and Cai (2015) assessed the difference, or lack thereof, in the characteristics of the text of chairman's statements. The results were similar as well, revealing that impression management existed in chairmen's statements, regardless of the profitability of the company.

The studies mentioned above have all proven that impression management is present in annual reports using different self-presentational strategies. As it has been explained above, managers use self-presentational strategies to influence the perception of the firm that readers receive (Brennan et al., 2009). One of these strategies is described as self-serving attributions which is a part of attribution theory described below.

2.2 Attribution theory

The management of a company has a tendency to blame external factors for poor performance and attribute good performance to themselves (Bradley, 1978; Bettman & Weitz, 1983). This is related to attribution theory where it is assumed that management will act in a self-interested manner (Brennan et. al., 2009). Attribution theory looks at the justification that managers give for their actions (Gollan & Witte, 2008). In 1958, a psychologist, Fritz Heider, drew the theoretical base for the theory of attribution, summarising his ideas and concepts in a monograph, *The Psychology of Interpersonal Relations* (Gollan & Witte, 2008). Gollan and Witte (2008) concern themselves with a specific chapter in this monograph titled 'Oughts and Values'. Oughts are described by Heider as beliefs that are culturally shared regarding what actions are right and wrong. The nature of the beliefs, according to Heider, is defined by five properties.

- 1. Command: "oughts are subjectively experienced as a form of command"
- 2. "Suprapersonal objective order": This refers to oughts exist objectively and are impersonal
- 3. Intersubjective validity: This means that all individuals must meet the same 'ought requirements' in a certain situation. In other words, every individual's moral judgements should be socially shared, regardless of that individual's wishes.
- 4. "The perception of an ought requirement has implications for action."
- 5. "Although oughts are socially shared and to a large extent invariant, they still depend on situational factors." (Gollan & Witte, 2008)

Individual's actions are compared and evaluated against these oughts properties. The individual acts in complying manner because they want to maintain the social approval of the community. The aforementioned properties are sometimes violated due to actions resulting from oughts are conflicting. For example, the requirements for oughts are sometimes violated as it clashes with the individual's personal desires (Gollan & Witte, 2008). Gollan and Witte (2008) mention that if there is an incongruence between the ought standard and the action of the individual, the

individual must support their behaviour. In regards to impression management, attribution theory regards the alteration and development of manager's verbal strategies to uphold a certain image. This is regarded as self-serving biases in organisational literature (Aerts, 2001).

Self-serving bias of attribution theory can be present in two ways, through defensive characteristics or by an assertive component. The assertive component refers to stressing or exaggerating the relevance, scope, and importance of positive actions or outcomes. On the other hand, defensive characteristics refer to "downplaying" the significance of events that are evaluated negatively (Aerts, 2001). This is evident in Bradley's (1978), Bettman and Weitz's (1983), Buttny's (1985) and Clatworthy and Jones's (2003), among other studies. These studies showed that companies' management tend to attribute the responsibility of negative outcomes to external factors, such as market prices, business climate, weather, government policy, and claim responsibility for positive outcomes, hence, presenting themselves in the best possible light. In the literature, these type of causal attributions have been labelled "self-serving", "hedonic" or "motivational" attributions, whereas the tendency to make such attributions has been labelled "attributional egotism" (Bettman & Weitz, 1983). When a company attributes favourable outcomes to internal causes this is called self-enhancing attributions, whereas when a company attributes unfavourable outcomes to external causes this is called self-protective attributions. The combination of the two is referred to as self-serving attributions (Bettman & Weitz, 1983).

2.2.1 Prior research on self-serving attributions

This paper argues that one of the reasons that managers' take part in self-serving biases is to manage the impressions of the public. The changes that they tend to manage are those that could have an effect of the view of the public regarding the organization (Bozeman & Kacmar, 1997). There are several studies, which will be explored below, that have explored the self-serving bias of attribution theory.

Bettman and Weitz (1983) looked at 181 annual reports published in 1972 and 1974 and focused on the letter to the shareholders. Although the authors did not choose companies based on company performance, their results showed that that self-serving attributions were used to a larger extent in the case when a company performed worse than expected.

Self-serving attributions were also found as a result of Staw, McKechnie, and Puffer's (1983) study. This study investigated whether there were self-serving attributions in the annual reports in 1977, specifically in the letters to shareholders of 46 companies with significant increases and 29 companies with significant earnings decreases. The authors found that there were more self-serving attributions in negatively performing companies, meaning that the companies were blaming external factors to a larger extent. Therefore, they managed to reveal that the self-serving attributions in the annual reports succeeded in managing the impressions of the public. This was seen as the attributions and improvements in stock prices correlated.

The degree of self-serving attribution varies in companies that have stable or unstable performance, as can be seen by a study by Salancik and Meindl (1984). This study looked at 18 stable and unstable firms in the US for a time span of 18 years (1961 to 1978). The authors found

that self-serving attributions were present in the narrative parts of the annual reports studied. Furthermore, the results showed that favourable outcomes were attributed to internal causes three times more often than any other cause. In the same way, unfavourable outcomes were attributed to external factors three times more often than any other cause.

Aerts developed four separate studies that looked at Belgian companies and specifically focused on the report from the Board of Directors in 1992, 1994, 2001, and 2005. The results from these studies revealed different aspects of impression management. In 1992, Aerts uncovered that the logic of accounting tended to shift towards justificatory and defensive explanations. In 1994, they studied the reports of 50 Belgian companies from 1983. The results showed that management chose to explain negative performance in technical accounting terms, whereas favourable outcomes were explained using causal reasoning, that is favourable outcomes were attributed to internal factors. In 2001, Arts studied 22 companies' annual reports from 1983-1990, that is he made in total 176 observations. He noticed a non-consistent pattern of attributions in that a consistently high level of positive attributions was not affected by overall performance change. Finally in 2005, Aerts revealed that companies tended to have a defensive attributional behaviour.

As was mentioned earlier, Clatworthy and Jones (2003) found that impression management appears in accounting narratives. They studied the chairman's statement of the top 50 and bottom 50 listed companies in UK partitioned by improving and declining performance. They looked at how these two groups reported good and bad news and found that regardless of the performance of the company, both groups were using self-serving attributions.

Merkl-Davies, Brennan and McLeay (2011) came to similar conclusions as Aerts (2005) when they conducted a content analysis on the word use in the chairman's statement of 93 listed companies in the UK. It was found that the chairmen's statements were used for impression management by means of enhancement, that is they were used to give an accurate, but also favourable, picture of the company and its outcomes.

As has been noted in prior research, there is evidence of impression management being present in annual reports, as measured by the use of self-serving attributions. The majority of these researchers looked at companies from one country and focused on either looking at the existence of impression management or comparing between companies with declining or increasing performance. None of the research has taking into consideration another aspect which separates companies in how they choose to disclose information, namely the financing systems. The split in financing systems will be described further below followed by the hypotheses developed for this thesis.

2.3 Financing systems

Since the narrative part of the annual report is not regulated, different factors might affect what managers choose to disclose in this part. One factor might be culture. However, Nobes (1998) states that rather than culture affecting accounting directly, it is instead considered one of the background factors leading up to differences in the financing system. Other factors which are

considered to cause international differences are legal systems, tax rules, external forces (for example former colonies), inflation and international variations in the strength and size of the accountancy profession. For example, the equity/outsider system is associated with the common law system, whereas codified law countries tend to have credit/insider systems (Nobes, 1998). According to Jaggi and Low (2000) companies from common law countries have higher financial disclosures compared to companies from code law countries. The authors also argue that since legal systems have a strong impact on corporate ownership and debt financing, they also have a significant influence on financial disclosures (Jaggi & Low, 2000). Nobes and Parker (2012) state, however, that the strongest influence comes from whether or not there is a strong equity market, in other words financing systems.

In 1983, Zysman distinguished between three different financing systems, the first one being capital market based, where prices are established in competitive markets (the UK and the US) (Nobes, 1998). The second system is referred to as the credit-based system; governmental, in which the government administers resources (France and Japan). Finally, there is the credit-based system; financial institutions, where dominance is held by banks and other financial institutions (Germany). Zysman's three types of financing systems can be simplified to equity and credit (Nobes, 1998). To these two classifications, Nobes (1998) also included the distinction between insiders and outsiders, hence, categorizing the systems equity/outsider and credit/insider systems. The outsider systems are represented by countries such as the UK and the US and are characterized by having large equity markets, dispersed ownership and active markets in corporate controls. Insider systems are represented by countries such as Germany and are characterized by having small numbers of quoted companies, concentrated ownership and low levels of takeover activity (Franks & Mayer, 2001).

It is important to note that measurement and disclosure are two aspects of financial reporting that can be separated. The issues of each, measurement and disclosure, are driven by splits in equity/creditor and outsider/insider, respectively. The split between equity and creditor systems changes the objectives for financial reporting. Equity market systems require more relevant information regarding performance. Additionally, there must information regarding the assessment of future cash flows. This is due to aid with financial decisions. Creditor systems, on the other hand, are more prudent when calculating profit. The insider/outsider split, however, affects the amount of information. In systems that outsiders are important in, the demand for published financial reporting is higher. (Nobes, 1998)

In an equity/outsider system, outsiders refer to people outside of the board of directors. Overall, their relationship with the company is not privileged (by this, Nobes (1998) mentions an example of a privileged relationship to be one a company's banker holds as he is a major shareholder). Outsiders include some institutions and private individual shareholders. In an outsider system, there is a demand for public disclosure and for external audit. The reason for this is because these types of systems involve a large number of shareholders in important equity markets. The demand is present because as there is no involvement in management by the shareholders. There is also no private access for the shareholders to financial information. For this reason when companies prepare annual reports for countries that have an equity/outsider makeup, they are

concerned mostly with outside users. More specifically, their concern lies in enabling outside users of the annual reports to predict future cash flows based on the reported financial performance of the company. (Nobes, 1998)

In a credit/insider system, insiders are defined as institutions whose relationship with their investees is closer and long-term. Examples of insiders include banks, governments, families, and other companies. The close relationship will consist of a private provision of frequent and timely accounting information. Thereby, the formulation of financial reports will be concerned more with the protection of the company's creditors. This means the calculation of distributable profits will be formulated as in a prudent manner. Furthermore, the financier of these companies (insiders) does not call for externally audited and published reports (Nobes, 1998). Germany is considered a credit/insider country, in which the banks are sometimes both important owners and providers of debt finance. In these cases, when the companies are owned and controlled by the banks, the banks are able to for example nominate directors and through them obtain information and, thus, affect decisions (Nobes & Parker, 2012). This means that the need for further information in terms of disclosure is less in the credit countries, such as Germany.

Nobes (1988) noted, however, that the distinctions between equity/outsider and credit/insider were not always clear cut. A credit/insider country could sometimes also be classified as having higher levels of disclosure, that is show characteristics of having an outsider system, especially when the country has unusually large market in listed debt. An example would be the German system for listed companies.

2.4 Hypotheses developed based on prior research and the financing systems

As has been explained in this chapter, the presence of impression management has been evident in different studies and through different self-presentational strategies. One of these strategies has been described in attribution theory as the use of self-serving attributions. The majority of prior studies of attribution theory are focused on the comparison between companies with increasing and decreasing performance. As it will be explained in "sample selection" in the method chapter, we will also make the separation between profitable and unprofitable companies in addition to the distinction between credit/insider and equity/outsider systems, represented by Germany and the UK. Our research question is concerned with whether companies coming from an equity/outsider country will make more self-serving attributions than companies coming from a credit/insider country. In order to give an answer to this question we have developed a set of null hypotheses. The first three hypotheses concern the profitable companies as these will be compared to each other.

Our first main hypothesis responds to our research question:

H1: Profitable companies in the UK do not make significantly more self-serving attributions than profitable companies in Germany.

Under the first main hypothesis, we have two more null hypotheses which look at the self-enhancing and self-protective attributions separately.

H1a: Profitable companies in the UK do not make significantly more self-enhancing attributions than profitable companies in Germany.

H1b: Profitable companies in the UK do not make significantly more self-protective attributions than profitable companies in Germany.

We did the same thing for unprofitable companies. The second main null hypothesis is:

H2: Unprofitable companies in the UK do not make significantly more self-serving attributions than unprofitable companies in Germany.

Following the second main hypothesis, we have the following null hypotheses:

H2a: Unprofitable companies in the UK do not make significantly more self-enhancing attributions than unprofitable companies in Germany.

H2b: Unprofitable companies in the UK do not make significantly more self-protective attributions than unprofitable companies in Germany.

3. Method

3.1 Process of literature search

Initially, we approached this study by researching what has already been studied in impression management. This search was mainly done through the Lubsearch database. We searched for keywords such as "impression management", "financial reports", "annual reports", "narrative reports", "attribution theory", "accounts", "culture", "financing systems" and "disclosure". We then made sure to select "peer reviewed" to narrow down the results. We paid special attention to the articles published by more central journals, such as *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal; Accounting and Business Research; Accounting Horizans; and International Journal of Accounting.* These types of journals allowed us to gain a more valuable search. After having found the articles which suited our topic, we then did something called the 'snowball effect' which simply means that we had a look at the literature reviews and reference lists of the article's we initially found. In this way, we were able to find relevant and valuable articles, which we were not able to find with the help of our keywords in Lubsearch. Also it is worth noting that we chose to disregard some of the books cited, such as books by Goffman and Schlenker, in the articles. The reason for this is because, either we were not able to get a hold of the book, or we found that the information in the journal articles that we found was sufficient.

3.2 Research design

The paper uses a quantitative research design with a deductive approach. In comparison to the qualitative studies, which tend to be inductive and relatively subjective, the quantitative research is based on quantification and is focused on generalizing results to a certain population (Bryman & Bell, 2003). This is relevant to us as we are interested in what attributions the management of a company chooses to make in the letter to the shareholders in the company's annual report.

3.2.1 Content analysis

Content analysis aims to focus on specific characteristics of a certain message by making an inference by being systematic and objective. The analysis is achieved by systematically applying rules that are specified beforehand. The rules are used to assign raw materials, for example newspaper articles, or in our case letters to the shareholders, into categories. These rules act as an observation schedule. This schedule aids the systematic processing of the letters to the shareholders. Additionally, it will help curb personal biases by the analysts (the authors of this paper) in the process of analysing the statements. In other words, creating a schedule will increase the transparency of the analysis. Furthermore, being systematic will encourage a consistent application of the set rules. This will further decrease any bias provided that it is followed out correctly. By involving these two qualities (being systematic and objective), content analysis hopes to allow for replications and follow-up studies to be feasible. An appropriate coding schedule which is set out clearly aims to allow for future studies to achieve similar results. The concern lies in the formulation of the rules. This refers to the possibility of the researcher's concerns and interests reflecting in the rules. (Bryman & Bell, 2007)

Content analysis can be an advantageous research method. One advantage is that content analysis is a non-reactive method. In other words, it is an unobtrusive method. This refers to the fact that the participants in a study do not have to take a researcher into account. This is evident when analysing newspapers and television programs as these are not written knowing that a content analysis will be carried out on them. However, letters to the shareholders may be influenced by a reactive effect, the reactive effect being that chairmen expect the letters to the shareholders to be scrutinised by, for example, analysts, shareholders, competitors, suppliers, and employees. Thereby, since they know that they will be scrutinised, they will react appropriately. Therefore, it is not the content analysis that introduces this reactive effort, rather is it already present in the letters to the shareholders. Furthermore, content analysis is a flexible method in the sense that it can help analyse a variety of types of unstructured information. Finally, content analysis creates the opportunity for information about social groups, which can be difficult to gain access to, to be generated. One example of such groups would be company directors. The information gathered regarding company directors has been generated from content analysis of their publications. Another advantageous aspect of content analysis is that it aims to uncover what the content is clearly about. It seeks to identify the meaning that may not be apparent on the surface. Content analysis refers to the 'latent content', or rather content that is meant to give an impression. In particular it looks at the themes and linguistic structure apparent in the content. This requires identifying certain ideas within the content. (Bryman & Bell, 2007)

3.2.2 Framework for content analysis

The analysis we have chosen, content analysis, can be used to measure different 'units of analysis' (words, subjects and themes, and dispositions). We want to explore whether companies from a country with an equity/outsider system make more self-serving attributions than companies from a country with a credit/insider system. In order to do this, we have followed the guidelines on how to detect attributions in general and self-serving attributions in particular, described by Bettman and Weitz (1983). Bettman and Weitz (1983) based their guidelines on the model developed by Weiner (1979). Weiner's model considers three factors to explain the properties of causal reasoning; the locus of causality, controllability of the cause; and causal stability. The locus of causality refers to if the cause is internal or external. Causal stability refers to whether this cause persists over time, then it is considered stable, and if not then it is unstable. Finally, the controllability of the cause refers to whether the company can do something about the cause (Bettman & Weitz, 1983). Bettman and Weitz (1983) studied self-serving attributions in two years. As it will be explained in the sample selection, we are only studying self-serving attributions in one particular year. Therefore, we will only consider locus of causality, as causal stability and controllability of the cause will not help answer our research question. In summary, the guidelines described in Bettman and Weitz (1983) will be used when coding the letters to the shareholders.

Before the coding commenced, what we took into consideration should be considered. Our primary aim is to evaluate the letter to the shareholders of each company. In order for it to be considered a letter to shareholders it must meet one of these certain criteria. When we talk about the letters to the shareholders, this could entail any of the following labels in the annual report:

chairman's statement, the CEO letter, the chief executive's reviews, the president's letter, the CEO's message (Jonäll & Rimmel, 2010). Our consideration of the letters also followed that order, which means that if there was a section that was not labelled "Chairman's Statement", then we considered the CEO letter and so on. The important aspect was that the letter had to be clearly addressed to the shareholders. Throughout our study we had to reject certain companies because they did not fulfil any of these requirements. One example of a company that we had to reject was the German company, ProSiebenSat.1 Group. This company had a report from the supervisory board. It also had interviews with the members of the Board of Executives. Even though the letter from the supervisory board was directed towards the shareholders, it did not revolve around the company performance, and it did not attribute any causes to the outcomes. Therefore, this was rejected. Once the letter to the shareholders was selected, then the coders could apply the guidelines to code. Both coders, in this the case the authors themselves, coded all the companies, and their results were compared and discussed. The guidelines we followed are, as mentioned above, based on the guidelines in Bettman and Weitz (1983), which will be described below.

The first was to identify all instances where we found causal reasoning. Causal reasoning is another word for making attributions. An instance of causal reasoning is a sentence or a phrase, in which a performance outcome is linked with a cause for that outcome (Bettman & Weitz (1983). In the letter to the shareholders a performance outcome referred to sales, profits, return on investment, divestment, acquisitions, and anything that had to do with a strategic move of the company. This would also include a change in strategy. Further clarification regarding the first step and the detection of attributions:

- Statements were dismissed if they only had an outcome and no cause. An example of this would be "profits increased". Thereby, there must be a cause related, otherwise the attribution should not be considered.
- If outcomes were just restated, then they were not considered as attributions. In other words, if there is no cause, but two outcomes it will not be considered. For example, "Profits increased, because sales increased" just discusses two outcomes.
- Similar to the previous point, we did not consider statements that discussed the company achieving favourable outcomes despite unfavourable circumstances if there was no clear cause stated. For example, "we were able to further strengthen the cooperation with our customers despite the more difficult market conditions" (Shumag, 2015) would not be considered an attribution. The reason for this is that there is no causal reason provided for their ability to strengthen the cooperation with their customers.
- "Because of" and" in spite of" statements can be interpreted as causal statements. However, we chose to not include them because they are ambiguous when coding them. If we consider the example "Profits increased, because sales increased", we do not know whether it was an internal or external cause that caused sales to increase.
- In order for the phrase to be considered attribution the causal reason and the outcome were considered if they appeared close to each other. This would mean that the attribution statement, both the outcome and causal information, would be found within one or two statements.

- If a performance outcome had more than one cause then we would consider each cause as a separate attribution. For example, the sentence "The improved results is basically due to the implemented measures for productivity increase as well as further cost savings in financing and other expenses." (Schumag, 2015) was attributed as two attributions. In this case "improved results" is the outcome and "the implemented measures for productivity" is one cause and "further cost savings in finance and other expenses" is the other cause.
- The attributions had to refer to the performance of the year of the annual report. However, the attributions could refer to causes leading up that particular outcome in the year of the annual report. For example, "The group saw a continuation of positive trading trends with strong contribution from dealerships acquired in the past two years" (Vertu Motors, 2014)". Sentences that stated anticipated performance of the company in the future were not considered.
- Any causes that were ambiguous for any reason were not considered. One example could be the following, "inevitably, improvements in financial performance lag operational changes" (JD Sports Fashion, 2014), which is incomprehensible. Another example is, "Cultural transformation has ... been on the priority list and we are already seeing tangible results" (Impellam Group, 2015). This is ambiguous as it does not link the cause and outcome. Additionally, "tangible results" is considered ambiguous as it does not state whether it is a favourable or unfavourable result.
- We considered any strategic move by the company as a cause. This included acquisitions, investments, divestments, new products, and finally efforts of employees. The attributions were not limited to this list, but they have to comply with all the guidelines.

Once we identified an attribution, the second step was to code whether the performance outcome was favourable or unfavourable. A favourable outcome would be considered one that states an improvement in performance of profits, sales, or costs. Any statement showing the opposite would be considered unfavourable.

The third step consisted of determining whether the cause of the attribution was internal or external. What this refers to is whether it was actions of the firm (internal) that managed to produce the outcome, or whether it was due to an external factor. An example of an external factor could be, "the_low oil price_made a major contribution to the good result" (Lufthansa Group, 2015). If we continue with this example, we can see that it is a favourable outcome "good results" and it is due to an external cause "low oil price".

As mentioned previously, we only coded the attributions (causes and outcomes) that were unambiguous and related to performance. Statements that could be interpreted as ambiguous were not coded. The reason we did not code these was that it would have possibly decreased the reliability of the study. Thereby, to maintain a level of reliability, the letter to the shareholders should be interpreted in line with the abovementioned guidelines.

Finally, the last step was to group the outcomes with the causes and list them in a spreadsheet. This way of listing the attributions is also the basis for how we compared the attributions between the companies later on. This is also the step that differs slightly from how Bettman and Weitz

(1983) compared their results. Once we had found the outcome and the cause, we grouped them into "favourable and internal" (FI), "favourable and external" (FE), "unfavourable and internal" (UI), or "unfavourable and external" (UE). These "units" (FI, FE, UI, UE) were later on compared between the companies (see Appendix 1). Bettman and Weitz (1983), on the other hand, tested the differences between the outcomes and causes separately between companies. What is important to note is that FI, FE, UI, and UE represent the attributions, that is an outcome linked to a cause. However, when we want to compare self-serving attributions, we are only interested in comparing FI and UE separately and FI and UE in combination, since this is essentially what we are testing (see our hypotheses in the theory chapter).

3.2.3 Inter-coder reliability

When designing a coding scheme as a method of analysis, there can be some potential pitfalls. If these pitfalls are not addressed they can harm the quality and accuracy of the whole study. There are several dangers that we will briefly discuss. First, we should consider discrete dimensions. This refers to ensuring that our dimensions are completely separate, meaning that there cannot be an empirical or conceptual overlap. Next, we must ensure that the categories we address are mutually exclusive. Thereby, if there is an overlap in the categories, the coders could be unsure how to code a certain item. Additionally, the coding scheme must be exhaustive. This refers to the concept of having a code for every possible category. Moreover, the instructions must be clear. The coders must have a clear understanding of what code to assign for each category. This will also ensure a uniform coding throughout the study. Finally, we must be clear about the unit of analysis (Bryman & Bell, 2007). We have been clear in this as we have defined precisely what attributions we will consider.

As the pitfalls have been discussed above, it is understandable that a great concern of a content analysis is the reliability of coding. In other words, the coding has to be consistent between the two coders; this is defined as inter-coder reliability. To ensure a high degree of reliability, both authors coded all of the material. To enhance the quality of our coding, we started with a pilot trial. A pilot trial can reveal difficulties that could occur relating to an uncertainty about what code to employ when considering a specific dimension. Another difficulty that can occur is that there was no code for a specific case. Piloting can also indicate whether a category has to be broken down. This could be necessary if one dimension subsumes a large percentage of items (Bryman & Bell, 2007). Our pilot served to help identify any difficulties similar to the ones that have just mentioned. What this meant in our case is that we started coding all letters to the shareholder from German companies and then compared our results. One of the authors had found a total of 99 attributions (total of FI, FE, UI, UE) and the other had found a total of 107 attributions (total of FI, FE, UI, UE). At this stage we had an agreement of 92 percent¹. We discussed the importance and relevance of every aspect of our code so that when we coded the rest of the letters to the shareholders, there would be even less errors.

¹ To find the agreement we took the following approach: $percentage\ difference = \left(\frac{\text{difference of values}}{\text{average (mean)} of\ values}\right) \times 100$

After the pilot trial, we then went back to coding the rest of material, that is all of the companies from the UK, separately. After having finished coding, we compared our results once again. One of the authors had found a total of 107 attributions and the other had found a total of 100 attributions. This time we had an agreement of 93 percent, which is a slight improvement from the first sample we compared. Both of our interpretations on our coded samples are considered as high percentages since 80 percent is recommended as an acceptable level of inter-coder reliability (Hackston & Milne, 1996; Milne & Adler, 1999). This means that the guidelines we followed were comprehensible and we are confident that if the same study were to be repeated, it would produce similar results. Finally, as we were discussing our coded material, we made a new list with the final attributions which we both agreed on. This list can be found in Appendix 1.

Coding all of the material manually, as we did, is a more subjective and sensitive approach, than computer-based coding. Although Clatworthy and Jones (2003) highly recommend an objective approach, they find that a degree of subjectivity is inevitable. This is inevitable as we are analysing narrative information and a level of interpretation is required. Therefore, even computer-based approaches will require an interpretation and judgement of the systematic counts of keywords (Clatworthy & Jones, 2003).

3.2.4 Ethical considerations

As aforementioned, content analysis is an unobtrusive method. Thereby, there are no major ethical issues that must be taken into consideration. The letters to the shareholders are taken from listed companies. Hence, the information is already public, and we do not have an issue of anonymity or confidentiality. We do not have to consider the informed consent as letters to shareholders are written with the knowledge that they will be subject to scrutiny. These observations about ethical consideration are based on Bryman and Bell's (2007) chapter on ethics.

3.3 Statistical analysis of content analysis

Creating a list of attributions for each country, and coding them into specific categories is not enough to answer our research question. Our research question asks whether companies from an equity/outsider system make more self-serving attributions than companies from a credit/insider system. As it will be explained in the section about sample selection below, in order for us to be able to compare the companies from the two countries we separated the companies that had been performing well in that particular year from those who had performed worse in terms of profits before tax. This allowed us to give a clearer comparison of the attributions made in the two countries. That being said, in the previous chapter we developed two main hypotheses, under which two more sub-hypotheses were developed.

The first main hypothesis (H1) and sub-hypotheses (H1a-H1b) concern the profitable companies with a total sample of 48 companies (we will describe how we ended up with the number of samples in "sample selection" below). Independent samples t test (hereinafter referred to as t test) are popular to compare two samples and is used when the samples are unrelated, with different participants in each sample. It is also used when the sample has more than 30 participants. We

have to be cautious when imputing our data, as *t* test will not let us know if we have made a mistake. It is just a statistical technique. This will help us determine whether there is a difference in the two samples (Germany and the UK), but it will not show the cause of the difference. The basis of *t* tests is reliant on certain assumptions. Firstly, the two samples must be chosen randomly and independently. Then, the data must ratio and normally distributed. Ratio regards data that is measured using a scale that has zero as the lowest value. Finally, the two sets of samples must have an equal population variance (Hinton, Brownlow, McMurray & Cozens, 2004). All of the assumptions mentioned are applicable to the sample of profitable companies.

What a t test will establish is to compare the two samples. First, it will determine the mean scores of each sample. Additionally, it will calculate when the null hypothesis is true, what it would expect the difference in means to be. This difference will help determine whether the null hypothesis should be rejected or not. If the expected difference is bigger than the difference in means, than the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. That means, that if the expected difference is less than the difference in means, we must see if the difference is enough to reject the null hypothesis. The null hypothesis will be rejected if the difference is large enough to have a statistically significant effect. In sum, we simply reject a null hypothesis when the p value (typically labelled the "sig." 2-tailed) is below the significance level, which is generally set at 0,05. (Hinton et al., 2004)

The second main hypothesis (H2) and two sub-hypotheses (H2a-H2b) concern the unprofitable companies with a total sample of 18 companies. Since the sample has less than 30 companies, the assumptions for a t test are not fully met and instead we conduct a nonparametric test, which does not require these assumptions. The nonparametric equivalent of the independent samples t test is called the Mann-Whitney t test. The Mann-Whitney t test ranks the complete set of scores from the lowest to the highest. The tests provide us with a statistic so that we can decide when there is a difference between the samples. There are two t values representing the two countries. If the values of the t values are approximately the same, that means there is no difference between countries. However, if there is a separation of the groups amongst the ranks, that means that one of the t values if higher than the other. To reject a null hypothesis in the Mann-Whitney t test, the same rule applies as for the t tests - we reject a null hypothesis if the t value (even here labelled "sig. 2-tailed") is less than 0,05. Hinton et al., 2004

The tests conducted here (both t tests and Mann Whitney U tests) show the p value for a two-tailed test (referred to as "sig. 2-tailed" in the tables generated by SPSS). This value answers a two-tailed hypothesis where you simply state that there will be a difference between the means, but you do not predict the direction of the difference. Our null hypotheses are all one-tailed, which means that we want to know the direction of the mean differences. To obtain the p value for a one-tailed test, you simply divide the "sig. 2-tailed" by two. To reject a one-tailed null hypothesis, the same rule applies as before - we reject a null hypothesis when the p value is below the 0,05 level (Hinton et al., 2004). We have gathered all of our interpretations of the values from the tables generated by SPSS in Appendix 2.

3.4 Data collection method

The formats of the annual report tend to vary and therefore we decided to only analyse the most standardized component of the report discussing performance, which is claimed to be the letter to the shareholders (Bettman & Weitz, 1983). The letter to the shareholders is also considered as the most read part of the annual report (Cen & Cai, 2015). We chose companies from two separate countries, one belonging to a credit/insider system (Germany), and one belonging to an equity/outsider system (the UK) (Franks & Mayer, 2001; Nobes & Parker, 2012).

3.4.1 Sample selection

In order to find the companies, we used the database ORBIS, an online source which we had access to through the Lund University database. Through the database ORBIS we selected "location" and then "World region/Country/Region in country". First we selected Germany. Finally, we also selected "Stock data" and then "Listed/Unlisted companies". We chose "listed companies". The reason for choosing listed companies is because the incentive to present their company in the best possible light is the most present in listed companies (Aerts, 2001). This gave us a total of 827 companies to choose from. We went through the same steps for the UK and ended up with a total of 1,921 companies to choose from.

In order to select the relevant companies for our study, we set some criteria. When determining whether the companies belonged to the credit/insider system or the equity/outsider system, we looked at the gearing ratio debt/equity (D/E). Although these systems are characterized by factors other than just gearing ratio, this is what we are selecting as our proxy when categorizing our companies. According to Nobes and Parker (2012), Germany is a country financed by more than two times more debt than equity (236,35 debt as percentage of common equity). Therefore, we identified companies with a D/E ratio of more than 200 percent as belonging to the credit/insider systems. On the other hand, we identified companies with a D/E of under 100 percent as belonging to the equity/outsider system, in this case represented by the UK. In ORBIS, you are able to select "gearing ratio" (D/E) in percent². This calculation has been noted to be consistent with all companies in ORBIS. If there happened to be a company that did not use this calculation of D/E then we did not include this company. We decided to use the gearing ratio as calculated in ORBIS as this ensured that we based our judgement of the company's gearing ratios on the same grounds.

Another distinction which we thought was important to make was the one between decreasing and increasing profitability of the companies. Prior research has focused on this metric when studying self-serving attributions (Bettman & Weitz, 1983; Staw, McKechnie & Puffer, 1983; Salancik & Meindl, 1984; Clatworthy & Jones, 2003). Even though our focus is to look at the difference between credit/insider and equity/outsider systems, it still makes sense to also include the distinction between decreasing and increasing profitability, the reason being that the management has reasons to justify their financial results to the shareholders. What is important to note is that this does not mean that we are conducting the same study as prior researchers, as we

23

² The way ORBIS calculates gearing ratio is: Gearing (%) = $\left(\frac{\text{Non-current liabilities +}}{\text{Shareholder funds}}\right) \times 100$

are also adding a further distinction. This further distinction is the split in financing systems of the countries, and seeing if this affects the extent to which the companies belonging to these systems make self-serving attributions.

There are different ways to measure the profitability of the companies. In this paper we use the term profitability in the sense of looking at whether the company has had a profit increase or decrease before tax, compared to the previous year. We looked at profit increase or decrease before tax, because the two countries belong to different systems, as described earlier, which leads to differences in how they calculate tax. Ultimately, this affects the profits in the companies to different extents, which is why we decided to only look at profit before tax. The detection of the effects of performance on the narrative reports is possible by viewing companies by their change in profit. Furthermore, percentage change in profit is also a measure that managers usually use to assess their own performance (Clatworthy & Jones, 2006). Hence, in each country we chose some companies with a positive percentage change in profit before tax and some companies with negative percentage change in profit before tax.

Another important criterion was that the annual reports had to be available in English and they had have a letter to the shareholders. This criterion, that the reports must be English, has resulted in our choice to look at only one year. This year will be the most recent annual report, either 2014 or 2015. The reason for choosing only one year was because German companies did not consistently report in English (they would report in German one year and the next year they would report in English). Our criteria was also the reason we started selecting the German companies first, as we knew it would be more difficult to find a large sample following the criteria we had designed, as many companies had German as their reporting language. Unfortunately, following our criteria (having the right gearing ratio, finding a letter to the shareholders and having the latest annual report be available in English) we only managed to find 24 German companies with an increase in profit before tax and 9 German companies with a decrease in profit before tax. Although it was possible to find more companies following our criteria in the UK, we limited our selection to the same number as for Germany in order for us to compare the samples. The choice of companies can be found in Appendix 1.

4. Results

First and foremost, we found that the majority of the attributions were self-serving. The table below presents the percentage³ of self-serving attributions out of the total attributions found in the profitable and unprofitable companies in Germany and the UK. These were derived from the results gathered in Appendix 1. This table is presented below to show that we found a high degree of self-serving attributions.

Table 1							
Percentage of self-serving attributions							
	Germany	UK					
Profitable	83%	93%					
Unprofitable	79%	97%					

Notes:

The percentages are rounded to the nearest whole number.

Our statistical analysis, that is the hypotheses tested below, will consider only the self-serving (FI+UE), self-enhancing (FI), and self-protective (UE). Thereby, they will not be carried out based on these percentages.

4.1 Profitable companies

As was explained in the method, the first three null hypotheses, concerning the profitable companies, have been tested in an independent samples *t* test in SPSS. Our first main hypothesis (H1) is presented below. An interpretation of the table will follow.

Table 2
Self-serving (FI+UE) attributions in profitable companies in Germany and the UK

sen ser ing (11.62	, accinotacions in proncas	ne companies in	Sermany and the err	
	Germany	UK	Mean difference	
Mean FI+UE	$2,5000^4$	3,8750	-1,37500 ♦ ◊	

Notes:

♦ significant at the 0,05 level in a two-tailed t test.

• not significant at the 0,05 level in a two-tailed *t* test.

 \Diamond significant at the 0.05 level in a one-tailed t test.

o not significant at the 0,05 level in a one-tailed t test.

 $^{^3}$ percentage of self – serving attributions = $\left(\frac{FI + UE}{FI + FE + UI + UE}\right) \times 100$

⁴ All results are presented using UK English punctutation (comma).

In Table 2, the mean values for self-serving attributions, that is the combination of self-enhancing (FI) and self-protective (UE), are presented. The mean difference (-1,37500) represents a significant difference in self-serving attributions (p = 0,0496)⁵ between the two countries. As has been described earlier, we are more interested in the one-tailed tests, which in this case also shows us that the mean difference is significant at the 0,05 level (p = 0,0248). As has been explained in the method chapter, a figure of less than 0,05 is considered to be an indication of significant difference. Therefore, since p < 0,05, we can reject our first main null hypothesis (H1), thus, profitable companies in the UK make significantly more self-serving attributions than profitable German companies.

Our two sub-hypotheses (H1a-H1b) are presented in Table 3 below.

Table 3
Self-enhancing (FI) and Self-protective (UE) attributions in profitable companies in Germany and the UK

	Germany UK Mean o		Mean difference
Mean FI	2,2083	3,2500	-1,04167 •◊
Mean UE	0,2917	0,6250	-0,33333 •○

Notes:

- \bullet significant at the 0.05 level in a two-tailed t test.
- not significant at the 0,05 level in a two-tailed t test.
- \Diamond significant at the 0,05 level in a one-tailed t test.
- o not significant at the 0.05 level in a one-tailed t test.

By looking at the mean values for FI, we can see that profitable companies in the UK make more self-enhancing attributions than profitable companies in Germany. The difference in means (-1,04167) is not significant at the 0,05 level in two-tailed tests (p = 0,08). However, in our one-tailed test, the mean difference (-1,04167) is significant at the 0,05 level (p = 0,04). Since p < 0,05, we can reject our first sub hypothesis (H1a). This means that profitable companies in the UK make significantly more self-enhancing attributions than profitable companies from Germany.

In Table 3 we also have the mean values for UE. Here we can see that profitable companies in the UK make more self-protective attributions than profitable companies in Germany. However, the mean difference (-0,33333) is not significant at the 0,05 level in neither two-tailed (p = 0,391) tests nor one-tailed tests (p = 0,196). This means that we cannot reject our second sub-hypothesis (H1b), hence, profitable companies from the UK do not make more self-protective attributions than profitable companies in Germany.

26

⁵ Four decimal points are used in order to show whether the *p* value had been rounded up or down.

In summary, the results from the t tests on the profitable companies show that companies from the UK make significantly more self-serving attributions than companies from Germany. Furthermore, companies from the UK make significantly more self-enhancing attributions than companies from Germany. However, companies from the UK do not make significantly more self-protective attributions than companies from Germany.

4.2 Unprofitable companies

As was explained in the method, we used Mann-Whitney U tests for the three remaining null hypotheses. The results from the Mann-Whitney U tests are presented below.

9.28

0.44 ●○

Table 4 Self-serving (FI+UE) attributions in unprofitable companies in Germany and the UK Mean rank difference Germany UK 9,72

Notes:

Mean rank FI+UE

- \bullet significant at the 0.05 level in a two-tailed Mann-Whitney U test.
- not significant at the 0.05 level in a two-tailed Mann-Whitney U test.
- \Diamond significant at the 0,05 level in a one-tailed Mann-Whitney U test.
- \circ not significant at the 0.05 level in a one-tailed Mann-Whitney U tests.

The mean ranks of the self-serving attributions, show us that unprofitable companies in Germany make more self-serving attributions than unprofitable companies in UK. However, these mean ranks are not significant at the 0.05 level in neither two-tailed tests (p = 0.859) nor one-tailed tests (p = 0.430). Therefore, we cannot reject our second main hypothesis (H2).

Table 5 Self-enhancing (FI) and Self-protective (UE) attributions in unprofitable companies in Germany and the UK

una ene err					
	Germany	UK	Mean rank difference		
Mean rank FI	10,39	8,61	1,78 •○		
Mean rank UE	9,28	9,72	-0,44 ●○		

Notes:

- \bullet significant at the 0,05 level in a two-tailed Mann-Whitney U test.
- \bullet not significant at the 0,05 level in a two-tailed Mann-Whitney U test.
- \Diamond significant at the 0,05 level in a one-tailed Mann-Whitney U test.
- \circ not significant at the 0,05 level in a one-tailed Mann-Whitney U test.

By examining the mean rank FI, we can tell that unprofitable companies in Germany make more self-enhancing attributions than unprofitable companies from the UK. However, these mean ranks are not significant at the 0,05 level in neither two-tailed t-tests (p = 0,474) nor one-tailed tests (p = 0,237). Therefore, our first sub-hypothesis (H2a) cannot be rejected.

Turning to the mean rank UE, the table shows us that unprofitable companies in the UK make more self-protective attributions than unprofitable companies in Germany. These mean rankings are not significant at the 0,05 level in neither two-tailed tests (p = 0.845) nor one-tailed tests (p = 0.423). Once again, we cannot reject our second sub-hypothesis (H2b). Unprofitable companies in the UK do not make significantly more self-protective attributions than unprofitable companies in Germany.

In summary, the results from the Mann-Whitney U test on the unprofitable companies show that companies from the UK do not make significantly more self-serving attributions than companies from Germany. Furthermore, companies from the UK do not make significantly more self-enhancing attributions than companies from Germany. Finally, companies from the UK do not make significantly more self-protective attributions than companies from Germany. A discussion of the results presented in this chapter will be further developed below.

5. Discussion

The results presented in the previous chapter show a consistency with prior research in self-serving attributions. Prior research (Bettman & Weitz, 1983; Staw, McKechnie & Puffer, 1983; Salancik & Meindl, 1984; Aerts, 1992, 1994, 2001, 2005; Clatworthy & Jones, 2003; Merkl-Davie, Brennan & McLeay, 2011) revealed that there are self-serving attributions in the annual reports of companies. Similarly, our results also indicate that there are self-serving attributions in the letters to the shareholders of both profitable and unprofitable companies in Germany and the UK. For the profitable companies, we found 83 percent and 93 percent self-serving attributions in Germany and the UK respectively. For the unprofitable companies, we found 79 percent and 97 percent in Germany and the UK respectively. Salancik and Meindl (1984) found that the companies he was analysing made significantly more self-serving attributions than any other attributions. The results showed that favourable outcomes were attributed to internal causes (self-enhancing attributions) three times more often than any other cause and that unfavourable outcomes were attributed to external factors (self-protective attributions) three times more often than any other cause. Hence, this finding is consistent with our findings, as the majority of attributions made in each category were self-serving (over 50 percent).

Our results are somewhat comparable to the findings in Aerts's (2001) study, which showed inertia in the pattern of self-serving attributions. He noticed a non-consistent pattern of attributions in that a consistently high level of positive attributions was not affected by overall performance change, that is profit increase or decrease. Although the number of companies in our samples of profitable and unprofitable companies varies, the results show a high percentage of self-serving attributions in both profitable and unprofitable companies. This is also consistent with the findings by Clatworthy and Jones (2003), who found that regardless of the performance of the company, both groups (profitable and unprofitable) were using self-serving attributions to a large extent.

As it has been explained above, our results are consistent with prior research in the sense that we can see that companies make self-serving attributions in their narrative reports. However, similarly to prior research, we also are interested in the comparison between results. In our case we considered two countries with different financing systems. The profitable and unprofitable companies of one country were compared with the profitable and unprofitable companies of another country. This specific comparison, between companies in separate countries in different financing systems, has not been conducted in prior research. Therefore, we only have the theory regarding financing systems to compare with our statistical analysis that addresses our hypotheses (Section 4.1 & 4.2).

The first main hypothesis (H1) was rejected, as our *t* tests showed that profitable companies in the UK made significantly more self-serving attributions than profitable companies in Germany. As it was described in the theory regarding financing systems, the main cause of international differences in reporting is the difference in financing systems, namely equity/outsider and credit/insider. In the equity/outsider system the outsiders demand more information in the annual report than the insiders in the credit/insider system (Nobes, 1988; Nobes & Parker, 2012). The

results showed this to be the case in our sample for profitable companies, as the mean difference was significant in the one-tailed *t* test.

When considering the self-enhancing (FI) and self-protective (UE) attributions separately, the first sub-hypothesis (H1a) was rejected due to the t test showing that profitable companies in the UK make significantly more self-enhancing attributions than profitable companies in Germany. This means that profitable companies in the UK tend to attribute favourable outcomes to internal causes more often than companies performing well in Germany do. Again, we link the reason for this result to the theory regarding the split in financing systems, equity/outsider and credit/insider (Nobes, 1998). However, the second hypothesis (H1b) was not rejected, as the t test showed that the mean difference in self-protective attributions in Germany and the UK was not significant. This means that it cannot be stated that profitable UK companies attribute unfavourable outcomes to external factors to a larger extent than profitable German companies. A possible reason for this can be explained by Nobes (1998), as he mentioned that a credit/insider country can sometimes also be classified as having higher levels of disclosure. In this case, it would mean that the reason why there is no significant difference between the self-protective attributions made in Germany and the UK could be explained by the fact that they both would be characterized as exhibiting higher levels of disclosures. Therefore, the distinction between the financing systems is not always clear cut (Nobes, 1998).

In the results chapter we also tested the significance of the difference in mean ranks between unprofitable companies in Germany and the UK using Mann-Whitney _U tests. The hypotheses intended to test whether unprofitable companies from UK made more self-serving attributions than unprofitable companies from Germany. However, we found that the mean rankings were higher for German companies when testing for self-serving attributions and self-enhancing attributions. Although the mean rank differences were not significant for any of the two hypotheses (H2 & H2a) in one-tailed Mann-Whitney U tests, it was still interesting to note that Germany was reporting more self-serving and self-enhancing attributions than the UK. This is contrary to our expectations based on the split between equity/outsider and credit/insider systems. As aforementioned, Nobes (1998) noted that sometimes listed German companies can be classified as having higher levels of disclosures, and this could act as an explanation for German companies having higher mean ranks than the UK for self-serving and self-enhancing attributions. It should be noted that since our results for unprofitable companies showed no significant differences, the explanation for German companies disclosing more self-serving attributions and self-enhancing attributions than UK companies is a mere assumption. Our last hypothesis (H2b) was also rejected, due to the difference in mean rank not being significant.

Overall, our results are inconclusive. By testing our hypotheses, we have been able to show that profitable companies in the UK make significantly more self-serving attributions than profitable companies in Germany. This has also been proven for self-enhancing attributions for profitable companies. We have explained these results by the split in financing systems, equity/outsider and credit/insider. Thereby, the financing systems can be assumed to play a role in causal reasoning. These results were in line with our expectations because we expected companies belonging to an equity/outsider country to disclose more information than those belonging to a credit/insider

country (Nobes, 1998). However, four of our hypotheses (H1b, H2, H2a & H2b) had to be rejected. We explained the reason for the mean differences being statistically insignificant by the fact the disclosure levels can sometimes be higher in credit/insider countries, such as Germany (Nobes, 1998).

6. Conclusion

The purpose of this thesis was to highlight the importance of the split in financing systems, namely equity/outsider and credit/insider. More specifically, it aimed to address whether the split would have an effect on the self-serving attributions made by companies in two separate countries, Germany and the UK. These companies were chosen on the basis that their average gearing ratios identified them as credit/insider and equity/outsider, respectively (Nobes & Parker, 2012).

Based on prior research, we made six one-tailed null hypotheses, three concerning profitable companies and three concerning unprofitable companies. These hypotheses were set to answer the research question. The notion that we based these null hypotheses on was that companies coming from an equity/outsider country make more self-serving attributions than companies coming from a credit/insider country. We separated the profitable and unprofitable companies. By doing this, it enabled the focus to be on the difference in financing systems. Our results showed a statistically significant difference in profitable companies from Germany and the UK when regarding the self-serving attributions in t tests. However, when we considered the selfenhancing and self-protective attributions individually, the t tests showed that the mean difference for self-enhancing attributions for profitable companies was significant, whereas the t test for self-protective attributions showed that the mean difference for profitable companies was not significant. Unprofitable companies, on the other hand, showed no significant difference in any of the results when testing the hypotheses in Mann-Whitney U tests. Thereby, the answer to our research question is inconclusive. It is inconclusive because our results, specifically those pertaining to the two main hypotheses (H1 & H2), showed that some companies (in this case profitable) coming from an equity/outsider finance system background can indeed make significantly more self-serving attributions, while other companies (in this case unprofitable) belonging to the same financing system at the same time do not.

The implications of our results should be considered. The split in financing systems can be used as a possible explanation for the significant differences found in causal reasoning between companies belonging to equity/outsider and credit/insider systems. However, our results have shown that the split between equity/outsider and credit/insider systems is not always clear cut. For example, we have seen that some companies from a credit/insider country, such as Germany, in some instances, have a higher mean in attributions than companies from the UK. Therefore, credit/insider countries can sometimes also exhibit disclosure characteristics more commonly found in an equity/outsider system (Nobes, 1998). Furthermore, as our answer to our research question is inconclusive, there might be factors, other than financing systems, that explain why causal reasoning is different in the annual report of companies coming from different countries. These factors have been mentioned in the theory chapter.

This study contributes to two aspects of research, financing systems and attribution theory. Firstly, our study contributes to the notion that companies may step out of the boundaries of the financing systems (equity/outsider and credit/insider) that they operate in. Thereby, they may exhibit characteristics similar to another system (a company operating in a credit/insider system

may show equity/outsider characteristics). This will, in turn, affect the way managers reason in their narrative report. This leads to our second contribution regarding attribution theory in the narrative report. Narrative reports focus on the performance of the company. In this sense, researchers naturally would want to focus on how the performance of the company affects the causal reasoning in narrative reports. This has been conducted in prior research. This study sought to expand the boundaries of research in self-serving attributions, therefore the focus was set on how the difference in financing systems, rather than performance, would affect causal reasoning. This study, as far as we have been able to find with the resources available to us, has not been conducted. Finally, since attribution theory is a self-presentational strategy, by contributing to this, we are essentially also contributing to impression management.

6.1 Limitations and Future Research

Our sample selection was very limited due to the parameters we set. The statistical tests, the t test and the Mann-Whitney U test, and the interpretations taken from them would be more representative of the two countries if the samples were larger. Specifically, our sample selection for unprofitable companies was just nine for each country. One clear solution would be to make the sample larger. However, this was not possible with the criteria set for the sample selection in this study.

Although we have been able to show that some mean differences between our samples are significant, we must still take into consideration that all the companies in the sample selection are listed companies. This means that they may not be influenced, as much as local companies, by the financing system. Thereby, they do not necessarily represent their country accurately.

In the future, studies could be carried out with a larger sample. One reason our sample was so limited was because many of the German companies reported in German. Thereby, a German speaker could carry out a content analysis of more companies. This would be beneficial in the sense that it could show a more statistical significant difference between companies in these two financing systems. In addition to this, looking at companies that are not listed in each country, could reveal even more national differences. This is assuming that annual reports with a narrative part can be found. Eventually, carrying out a study like this could potentially further reveal the importance of financing systems even, as well as other factors that could affect the use of self-serving attributions.

Following the argumentation above, we also believe that an observation consistent of more than one year would expand the contribution of the study to research. If this is done, the remaining factors from Weiner's (1979) model can be taken into consideration. These factors are the controllability and causal of stability. The causal of stability regards whether causes persisted over time (stable/unstable). Controllability refers to whether the company can do something about the cause. This would be beneficial to research as it would reveal any patterns. If a company's causal reasoning is observed over time it could reveal a pattern. By analysing the same companies from an equity/outsider country and a credit/insider country over a longer period of time, this could potentially reveal the true cause behind self-serving attributions.

Although this is not a part of the study's aim or the research question, we want to include some anecdotal evidence that we found while coding the letter to the shareholders. We noticed a few patterns appearing within the annual reports of each company of each country. These patterns lie outside of parameters of our study. It was interesting to see how the writing styles between German and English varied. We noticed that German reports were easier to comprehend as their language was very clear and concise. The chairman's statements from the UK annual reports would use more complex sentences that were often difficult to understand. We noticed that the worst the performance of the company was, the more ambiguous the sentences became. We suggest that an analysis of the German and UK companies from a qualitative perspective would further evaluate the meaning of the attributions made. This is because it would pay more attention to the meaning of the reasoning. Additionally, it could also bring out factors that a statistical test would perhaps not show.

Reference List

Aerts, W. (1992). On the Public Use of Accounting Information in a Narrative Context., *European Accounting Review*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp.454–457

Aerts, W. (1994). On the Use of Accounting Logic as an Explanatory Category in Narrative Accounting Disclosures, *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, vol. 19, no. 4-5, pp.337–353

Aerts, W. (2001). Inertia in the Attributional Content of Annual Accounting Narratives, *European Accounting Review*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp.3–32

Aerts, W. (2005). Picking up the Pieces: Impression Management in the Retrospective Attributional Framing of Accounting Outcomes, *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp.493–517

Beattie, V., Dhanani, A. & Jones, M. J. (2008). Investigating Presentational Change in U.K. Annual Reports: A Longitudinal Perspective, *Journal of Business Communication*, vol. 45, no. 2, pp.181–222

Beattie, V., & Jones, M. J. (2000). Impression management: the case of inter-country financial graphs. *Journal Of International Accounting, Auditing And Taxation*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp.159-183

Bettman, J.R. & Weitz, B.A. (1983). Attributions in the Board Room: Causal Reasoning in Corporate Annual Report, *Administrative Science Quarterly*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp.165-183

Bozeman, D.P. & Kacmar, M. (1997). A Cybernetic Model of Impression Management Processes in Organizations, *Organizational Behavior & Human Decision Processes*, vol. 69, no. 1, pp.9–30

Bradley, G. W. (1978). Self-Serving Biases in the Attribution Process: A Reexamination of the Fact or Fiction Question., *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp.56–71

Brennan, N. M., Guillamon-Saorin, E., & Pierce, A. (2009). Impression management: Developing and illustrating a scheme of analysis for narrative disclosures - a methodological note, *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp.789-832

Bryman, A. & Bell, E. (2003). Företagsekonomiska forskningsmetoder, Malmö: Liber

Bryman, A. & Bell, E. (2007). Business Research Method, New York: Oxford

Buttny, R. (1985). Accounts as a Reconstruction of an Event's Context, *Communication Monographs*, vol. 52, no. 1

Cen, Z. & Cai, R. (2013). 'Impression management' in Chinese corporations: a study of chairperson's statements from the most and least profitable Chinese companies, *Asia Pacific Business Review*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp.490-505

Cen, Z. & Cai, R. (2014). Preference in Presentation or Impression Management: A Comparison Study between Chairmen's Statements of the Most and Least Profitable Australian Companies, *Australasian Accounting Business & Finance Journal*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp.3-21

Cen, Z. & Cai, R. (2015). What can we learn from the chairmen's statements of Austrailian companies: a textual difference study, *Accounting, Accountability & Performance*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp.33–50

Clarke, G. & Murray, L. (2000). Investor relations: Perceptions of the annual statement, *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, vol 5, no. 3, pp.144-151

- Clatworthy, M. A. & Jones, M. J. (2003). Financial Reporting of Good and Bad News: Evidence from Accounting Narratives, *Accounting and Business Research*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp.171–185
- Clatworthy, M. A. & Jones, M. J. (2006). Differential patterns of textual characteristics and company performance in the chairman's statement, *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp.493-511
- Crowther, D., Carter, C., & Cooper, S. (2006). The poetics of corporate reporting: Evidence from the UK water industry. *Critical Perspectives On Accounting*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp.175-201
- Dilla, W. N. & Janvrin, D. J. (2010). Voluntary Disclosure in Annual Reports: The Association between Magnitude and Direction of Change in Corporate Financial Performance and Graph Use, *Accounting Horizons*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp.257–278
- Falschlunger, L. M., Eisl, C., Losbichler, H. & Greil, A. M. (2015). Impression management in annual reports of the largest European companies, *Journal of Applied Accounting Research*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp.383-399
- Franks, J., & Mayer, C. (2001). Ownership and Control of German Corporations, *Review Of Financial Studies*, vol. 14, no. 4, p.943
- Geppert, J. & Lawrence, J. E. (2008). Predicting Firm Reputation Through Content Analysis of Shareholders' Letter, *Corporate Reputation Review*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp.285–307
- Gollan, T., & Witte, E. H. (2008). "It was right to do it, because...": Understanding Justifications of Actions As Prescriptive Attribution, *Social Psychology*, vol. 39, no. 3, pp.189-196
- Hackston, D., & Milne, M. J. (1996). Some determinants of social and environmental disclosures in New Zealand companies, *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, vol. 9, no. 1, p.77-108
- Hinton, P. R., Brownlow, C., McMurray, I., & Cozens, B. (2004). SPSS Explained, [e-book] London: Routledge. Available through: LUSEM University Library Website: https://www-dawsonera-com.ludwig.lub.lu.se/readonline/9780203642597/startPage/124. [Accessed 12 May 2016]
- Hooghiemstra, R. (2000). Corporate Communication and Impression Management: New Perspectives Why Companies Engage in Corporate Social Reporting, *Journal of Business Ethics*, vol. 27, no. ½, pp.55-68
- Impellam Group. (2015). Impellam Group Annual Report 2015, Available Online: http://investors.impellam.com/annual-reports.aspx [Accessed 29 April 2016]
- Jaggi, B. and Low, P.Y. (2000). Impact of culture, market forces and legal systems on financial disclosure, *International Journal of Accounting*, vol. 35 no. 4, pp. 495-519
- JD Sports Fashion. (2014). JD Sports Fasion Annual Report 2014, Available Online: http://www.jdplc.com/~/media/Files/J/Jd-Sports-Fashion-Plc/reports-and-presentations/annual-report-and-account-2014.pdf [Accessed 29 April 2016]
- Jonäll, K., & Rimmel, G. (2010). CEO letters as legitimacy builders: coupling text to numbers. *Journal Of Human Resource Costing & Accounting*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp.307-328

Lufthansa Group. (2015). Lufthansa Group Annual Report, Avilable Online: http://investor-relations.lufthansagroup.com/en/finanzberichte/annual-report/2015.html [Accessed 27 April 2016]

Mažeikienė, A., & Peleckis, K. (2009). Strategies of self-presentation in the business meetings and negotiation, *Business: Theory & Practice*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp.322-329

Merkl-Davies, D.M., Brennan, N.M. & McLeay, S.J. (2011). Impression management and retrospective sense-making in corporate narratives: A social psycology perspective, *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp.315–344

Milne, M.J. & Adler, R.W. (1999). Exploring the reliability of social and environmental disclosures content analysis, *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp.237-256

Nobes, C. (1998). Towards a General Model of the Reasons for International Differences in Financial Reporting, *Abacus*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp.162-187

Nobes, C. & Parker, R. (2012). Comparative International Accounting, Essex: Pearson

Revsine, L. (1991). The Selective Financial Misrepresentation Hypothesis, *Accounting Horizons*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp.16-27

Sadler, M. E., Hunger, J. M., & Miller, C. J. (2010). Personality and impression management: Mapping the Multidimensional Personality Questionnaire onto 12 self-presentation tactics, *Personality And Individual Differences*, vol. 48, no. 5, pp.623-628

Salancik, G. R. & Meindl, J. R. (1984). Corporate Attributions as Strategic Illusions of Management Control, *Administrative Science Quarterly*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp.238–254

Sandell, N. & Svensson, P. (2016). The Language of Failure The Use of Accounts in Financial Reports, *International Journal of Business Communication*, vol. 53, no. 1, pp.5-26

Schleicher, T. & Walker, M. (2010). Bias in the Tone of Forward-Looking Narratives., *Accounting & Business Research (Wolters Kluwer UK)*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp.371–390

Schumag. (2015). Schumag Annual Report 2014/15, Available Online: http://www.schumag.de/financial_reports.91.html [Accessed 28 April 2016]

Staw, B. M., McKechnie, P. I. & Puffer, S. M. (1983). The Justification of Organizational Performance, *Administrative Science Quarterly*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp.582–600

Vertu Motors. (2014). Vertu Motors Annual Report 2014, Available Online: http://www.vertumotors.com/webcasts/ [Accessed 29 April 2016]

Weiner, B. (1979). A theory of motivation for some classroom experiences, *Journal Of Educational Psychology*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp.3-25

Yekini, L. S., Wisniewski, T. P. & Millo, Y. (2015). Market Reaction to the Positiveness of Annual Report Narratives, *The British Accounting Review*, [e-journal], Available Online: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0890838915300044 [Accessed 3 Aril 2016]

Appendix 1

Germany	Attributions						
Profitable companies	FI	FE	UI	UE	Total		
Wolkswagen	1	0	0	0	1		
Daimler	2	0	0	1	3		
BMW	2	0	0	0	2		
Deutsche Telekom	6	0	0	1	7		
Deutsche Lufthansa	4	1	0	0	5		
VTG	4	1	0	1	6		
Mutares	6	0	0	0	6		
Compugroup Medical	1	0	0	0	1		
Constantin Medien	4	1	0	0	5		
TAG Immobilien	1	0	0	0	1		
KTG Agrar	1	0	0	0	1		
Energiekontor	3	1	0	1	5		
Accentro Real Estate	2	0	0	0	2		
Net Mobile	4	0	0	0	4		
HMS Bergbau	0	0	0	1	1		
Beate Uhse	5	0	0	0	5		
Paragon	1	0	0	0	1		
Isaria Wohnbau	1	1	0	0	2		
Deutsche Mittelstand Real Estate	0	0	0	0	0		
Schumag	2	2	1	2	7		
United Labels	0	0	2	0	2		
Travel24	2	0	1	0	3		
Phoenix Solar	0	0	0	0	0		
Centrotherm Photovoltaics	1	1	0	0	2		
Total attributions	53	8	4	7	72		
Unprofitable companies							
EON SE	3	0	0	0	3		
RWE	3	0	2	3	8		
Schaeffler	5	0	0	0	5		
Deutsche Börse	3	0	0	0	3		
Heidelberger Druckmaschinen	4	0	1	1	6		
SGL Carbon	3	0	0	1	4		
Solarworld	0	1	1	0	2		
Adler Real Estate	2	2	0	0	4		
Activa Resources	1	0	1	2	4		
Total attributions	24	3	5	7	39		

The UK	Attributions				
Profitable companies	FI	FE	UI	UE	Total
Barratt developments	4	1	0	0	5
Vodafone Group	0	0	1	7	8
Taylor Wimpey	0	0	0	0	0
J Sainsbury	5	0	0	3	8
Sports Direct International	1	0	0	0	1
Persimmon	7	0	0	0	7
Land Securities Group	7	0	0	0	7
Amdocs limited	5	0	0	5	10
Carnival	5	1	0	0	6
Berkeley Group Holdings	2	0	0	0	2
Dixons carphone	1	0	0	0	1
Vertu Motors	7	0	0	0	7
Home retail group	3	0	0	0	3
British Land Company	4	1	0	0	5
Bellway	3	1	0	0	4
Easyjet	3	0	0	0	3
Booker Group	1	0	0	0	1
JD Sports Fashion	2	1	0	0	3
Impellam Group	1	0	0	0	1
Costain Group	2	0	0	0	2
WH Smith	3	0	0	0	3
Howden Joinery Group	2	0	0	0	2
Redrow	5	0	0	0	5
Savills	5	1	0	0	6
Total attributions	78	6	1	15	100
Unprofitable companies					
Morgan Sindall Group	2	0	0	0	2
Antofagasta	1	0	1	9	11
Royal Dutch Shell	0	0	0	0	0
BHP Billiton	4	0	0	1	5
Rio Tinto	4	0	0	4	8
WM Morrison Supermarkets	1	0	0	0	1
Royal Mail	2	0	0	0	2
Pearson	0	0	0	0	0
JRP Group	5	0	0	1	6
Total attributions	19	0	1	15	35

Appendix 2

Profitable companies in Germany and the UK.

1. Self-serving (FI+UE) attributions

Group Statistics

	Country	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean
Selfserving	Germany	24	2,5000	2,02162	,41266
	UK	24	3,8750	2,65907	,54278

Independent Samples Test

Levene's Test for Equality of Variances			Hest for Equality of Means							
							Mean	Std. Error	95% Confidence Differ	
		F	Sig.	t	ďf	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
Selfserving	Equal variances assumed	1,648	,206	-2,017	46	,04960	-1,37500	,68184	-2,74746	-,00254
	Equal variances not assumed			-2,017	42,930	,05002	-1,37500	,68184	-2,75012	,00012

H1: Profitable companies in the UK do not make significantly more self-serving attributions than profitable companies in Germany.

- F = 1,648, $p = 0,206 \rightarrow p > 0,05 \rightarrow \text{Look}$ at "equal variances assumed"
- Two-tailed test: $p = 0.0496 \rightarrow p < 0.05 \rightarrow \text{reject null hypothesis}$
- One-tailed test: $p = 0.0248 \rightarrow p < 0.05 \rightarrow \text{reject null hypothesis}$

2. Self-enhancing (FI) and self-protective (UE) attributions Group Statistics

	Country	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean
FI	Germany	24	2,2083	1,86452	,38059
	UK	24	3,2500	2,15184	,43924
FE	Germany	24	,3333	,56466	,11526
	UK	24	,2500	,44233	,09029
UI	Germany	24	,1667	,48154	,09829
	UK	24	,0417	,20412	,04167
UE	Germany	24	,2917	,55003	,11228
	UK	24	,6250	1,78916	,36521

Independent Samples Test

		Levene's Test Varia		1-test for Equality of Means						
							Mean	95% Confidence In Std. Error Difference		
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
FI	Equal variances assumed	,720	,401	-1,792	46	,080,	-1,04167	,58119	-2,21155	,12822
	Equal variances not assumed			-1,792	45,086	,080,	-1,04167	,58119	-2,21219	,12886
FE	Equal variances assumed	1,680	,201	,569	46	,572	,08333	,14641	-,21138	,37805
	Equal variances not assumed			,569	43,506	,572	,08333	,14641	-,21184	,37851
UI	Equal variances assumed	6,044	,018	1,171	46	,248	,12500	,10676	-,08990	,33990
	Equal variances not assumed			1,171	31,007	,251	,12500	,10676	-,09274	,34274
UE	Equal variances assumed	5,028	,030	-,872	46	,388	-,33333	,38208	-1,10242	,43575
	Equal variances not assumed			-,872	27,309	,391	-,33333	,38208	-1,11688	,45021

H1a: Profitable companies in the UK do not make significantly more self-enhancing attributions than profitable companies in Germany.

Favorable outcome, internal cause (FI):

- F = 0,720, $p = 0.401 \rightarrow p > 0.05 \rightarrow \text{Look}$ at "equal variances assumed"
- Two-tailed test: $p = 0.08 \rightarrow p > 0.05 \rightarrow \text{cannot reject null hypothesis}$
- One-tailed test: $p = 0.04 \rightarrow p < 0.05 \rightarrow \text{reject null hypothesis}$

H1b: Profitable companies in the UK do not make significantly more self-protective attributions than profitable companies in Germany.

Unfavorable outcome, external cause (UE):

- F = 5,028, $p = 0.030 \rightarrow p < 0.05 \rightarrow \text{Look at "equal variances not assumed"}$
- Two-tailed test: $p = 0.391 \rightarrow p > 0.05 \rightarrow$ cannot reject null hypothesis
- One-tailed test: $p = 0.196 \rightarrow p > 0.05 \rightarrow$ cannot reject null hypothesis

Unprofitable companies in Germany and the UK

1. Self-serving (FI+UE) attributions

Ranks

	Country	N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
Selfserving	Germany	9	9,72	87,50
	UK	9	9,28	83,50
	Total	18		

Test Statistics^a

	Selfserving	
Mann-Whitney U	38,500	
Wilcoxon W	83,500	
Z	-,178	
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,859	
Exact Sig. [2*(1-tailed Sig.)]	,863 ^b	

- a. Grouping Variable: Country
- b. Not corrected for ties.

H2: Unprofitable companies in the UK do not make significantly more self-serving attributions than unprofitable companies in Germany.

- Two-tailed test: $U = 38,500, p = 0,859 \rightarrow p > 0,05 \rightarrow$ cannot reject null hypothesis
- One-tailed test: U = 38,500, $p = 0,430 \rightarrow p > 0,05 \rightarrow$ cannot reject null hypothesis

2. Self-enhancing (FI) attributions and elf-protective (UE) attributions Ranks

	Country	N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
FI	Germany	9	10,39	93,50
	UK	9	8,61	77,50
	Total	18		
FE	Germany	9	10,50	94,50
	UK	9	8,50	76,50
	Total	18		
UI	Germany	9	11,06	99,50
	UK	9	7,94	71,50
	Total	18		
UE	Germany	9	9,28	83,50
	UK	9	9,72	87,50
	Total	18		

Test Statistics^a

	FI	FE	U	UE
Mann-Whitney U	32,500	31,500	26,500	38,500
Wilcoxon W	77,500	76,500	71,500	83,500
Z	-,716	-1,455	-1,578	-,195
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,474	,146	,115	,845
Exact Sig. [2*(1-tailed Sig.)]	,489 ^b	,436 ^b	,222 ^b	,863 ^b

- a. Grouping Variable: Country
- b. Not corrected for ties.

H2a: Unprofitable companies in the UK do not make significantly more self-enhancing attributions than unprofitable companies in Germany.

- Two-tailed test: $U = 32,500, p = 0,474 \rightarrow p > 0,05 \rightarrow$ cannot reject null hypothesis
- One-tailed test: U = 32,500, $p = 0,237 \rightarrow p > 0,05 \rightarrow$ cannot reject null hypothesis

H2b: Unprofitable companies in the UK do not make significantly more self-protective attributions than unprofitable companies in Germany.

- Two-tailed test: U = 38,500, $p = 0,845 \rightarrow p > 0,05 \rightarrow$ cannot reject null hypothesis
- One-tailed test: U = 38,500, $p = 0,423 \rightarrow p > 0,05 \rightarrow$ cannot reject null hypothesis